United Nations Ac.esasR.27

N
\\/‘ )y Fifty-fourth session 29 December 1999
E\S:=274 L English

7 Official Records Original: French

Sixth Committee

Summary record of the 27th meeting
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Thursday, 4 November 1999, at 3 p.m.

Chairman: Ms . Hallum ... (New Zealand)

Contents

Agenda item 155: Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its
fifty-first session (continued)

Thisrecord is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member of the
delegation concerned within one week of the date of publication to the Chief of the Official Records
Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a copy of the record.

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate corrigendum for each Committee.

99-82199 (E)



A/C.6/54/SR.27

The meeting was called to order at 3.55 p.m.

Agenda item 155: Report of the International Law
Commission on the work of its fifty-first session
(continued) (A/54/10 and Corr.1 and 2)

1.  Ms. Ariyoshi(Japan), referringtochapter V111 of the
report of thelnternational Law Commission (A/54/10and
Corr.1and?2), relatingtounilateral actsof States, saidthat
the issue had not been discussed sufficiently and that in
particular not enough attention had been giventothevery
important question of actual practice. Her delegation
welcomed the Commission’ sdecision to conduct asurvey
by sending questi onnairesto Governments, and Japanwas
intheprocessof preparingitsresponse. Sincethe purpose
was to give greater stability to the international legal
system and ensuretherule of law, unilateral acts of States
should not be discussed in the abstract. From that
standpoint, Japan had doubts about the approach the
Commission had adopted inthe draft articles, which drew
largely on the Vienna Convention on the law of treaties,
without taking sufficient account of thefact that unilateral
acts, by their nature and their effects, differed from treaty
acts.

2. Concerning chapter X of the Commission’ sreport,
relatingtointernational liability forinjuriousconsequences
arising out of actsnot prohibited by international law, her
delegation strongly supported the Commission’ sdecision
to defer consideration of the question until it had
completed its second reading of the draft articles on the
prevention of transboundary damage from hazardous
activities. Japan hoped that once the comments that
Governmentswould submit onthedraft articlesby January
2000 had been taken into consideration, the draft text
would refer more to actual practice. The Commission
would also have to decide at the appropriate stage what
recommendation it would make regarding the final form
of the draft articles.

3. With regard to chapter X of the report, relating to
other decisions and conclusions of the Commission, her
Government was pleased that the Commission had
identified the protection of the environment as one of the
topicsit might take up inthe next quinquennium, and that
it was examining feasibility studies on the polluter-pays
principle, international control of environmental disputes,
precautionary principlesand obligationsergaomnes. Like
the Asian-African Legal Consultative Committee which
represented 42 States, it firmly believed that the
Commission should study the important question of the
environment, and hoped that it would be ableto definethe

scope and content of the topic. In order to assist it, Japan
planned to submit written comments as requested in
paragraph 33 of the Commission’ s report.

Her delegation noted the explanations the
Commission had given in paragraph 639 of its report
regardingthegreater efficiency that couldresultfromsplit
sessions, but emphasized that, given the current financial
situation of the Organization, her Government could not
approvethenew arrangement except ontheunderstanding
that it would not involve any additional costs and for the
year 2000 alone, during which the necessary conference
serviceswould beavailableonly duringthedatesschedul ed
for the split sessions.

5. Mr. Diaz (CostaRica) said that his delegation did
not approve of the direction taken by the Commission in
itsconsideration of thequestion of unilateral actsof States.
Thedefinition it was proposing wasrestrictive, formalist,
voluntarist and abstract; despite its intellectual merit, it
was defectivein failing to take account of the complexity
of State practice. Nor was it useful to try to make a
distinction between political and legal acts because, in
international relations, all actswerepolitical innature. His
delegation believed that the question to be asked in
defining unilateral actswaswhether or not they produced
legal effects and under what circumstances they were
carried out. The study of the subject should moreover be
limited exclusively to acts capable of producing legal
effects, among them, for example, autonomous unilateral
declarationsmadewith the expressintention of producing
legal effects.

6. The Commission should adopt a broader frame of
reference than the one it was proposing and centre its
proposal on good faith, estoppel and consent. The
obligatory natureof anact did not arisefromtheunilateral
will on the part of the declaring State to assume an
obligation; yet that was difficult to demonstrate unless,
precisely, the principle of good faith was taken into
account. Theautonomy of such acts, moreover, could only
berelative. Althoughit might lack the Cartesian rigour of
the Commission’ s reasoning, that interpretation had the
advantage of being closer to State practiceand by thesame
token more productive. If one held to the Commission’s
interpretation, one would have to admit that express
declarations could indeed be subject to rules similar to
thosegoverningtreaties. Thequestionthen aroseastothe
identity of the persons or entities making the declarations
andtheformalitiesand rulesof interpretationthat applied
tothem. Fromthat | egal standpoint, thewisest positionwas
that such declarationscould bemadeonly by headsof State
or Government, ministers of foreign affairs or expressly



A/C.6/54/SR.27

empowered officials. It was interesting to notethat it had
been suggested that when other authorities could commit
the State unilaterally at the international level, that
capacity should be limited to circumstancesin which the
persons concerned were given an official mandate to
conduct foreign policy in their field of competence and
where their counterparts, to whom the unilateral
declaration was addressed, were fully cognizant of that
fact. Similarly, to the extent that such declarations were
autonomous and their objective was to assume licit
obligationsor renouncerightstowhichthedeclaring State
wasentitled, that very autonomy precludedthedeclarations
from imposing obligations on other States or conferring
rights on the declaring State.

7.  With regard to formalities, the only requirements
werethe clarity and deliberate nature of the expression of
will, bearing in mind the terms used in the text of the
declarations, their intention and the factual and legal
context inwhich they were made. On the question of their
duration, he believed that, in the light of the proposed
definition, such acts were instantaneous because they did
not go beyond the immediate expression of the will to
assume an obligation. As to revocability, the acts in
guestion could not be unilaterally revoked or restrictively
modified . Oncethedeclaration had produced legal effects
and created rights or given powers vis-a-vis other States,
it could not be revoked or limited except with the consent
of the States concerned.

8. Turning to chapter V of the report of the
International Law Commission, concerning State
responsibility, hesaidthat hesupportedtheproposal aimed
at establishing adistinction between the different types of
States affected by an internationally wrongful act in draft
article 40, which dealt with the meaning of injured State.
Theinstances cited in paragraph 2 (e) (iii) in connection
with rights created for the protection of human rightsand
in paragraph 2 (f) in connection with the collective
interests of States parties should be given separate
treatment. M oreover, oncethat distinction had been made,
specific provisions on reparation in the event of an erga
omnes obligation should be adopted, taking into account
the valuable experience of human rights tribunals.

9. The inclusion in the draft articles on State
responsibility of provisionssuch asthose set forthin draft
article 41, on the cessation of wrongful conduct, was
guestionable, sincetheir referencetothebinding nature of
the primary obligation served no purpose. The same
rationale applied to draft article 46 on assurances and
guarantees of non-repetition. He did, however, support
inclusion of the ideas contained in draft article 42,

paragraph 3, and draft article 43 (d); in both cases, the
provisions in question imposed reasonable limits on the
duty of reparation, taking into account the fundamental
rights of the population of the State having committed an
internationally wrongful act. Both of those draft articles
could be better formulated, however, with a view to
eliminating their political character and indicating that
they related only to extreme cases. The Commission might
ask itself whether such instances should not be included
under state of necessity or distress. Moreover, draft article
42, paragraph 3, should instead form part of draft article
44, since its provisions were applicable neither to
satisfaction nor to guaranteesof non-repetition. Thephrase
“if and to the extent necessary to provide full reparation”
should be deleted from draft article 45, paragraph 1, asit
was superfluousin an optional provision and appeared to
subordinate that type of reparation to restitution and
compensation. Draft article 45, paragraph 2 (c), should
also be deleted, asits content was already covered under
paragraph 2 (b).

10. Inregard to countermeasures, draft articles 47, 49
and 50 were satisfactory inasmuch as they codified
contemporary international law in that field. He also
welcomed the Commission’s aim in draft article 48 of
making provision for the obligation to resort to abinding
dispute settlement procedure and thereby contributing to
theprogressivedevelopment of international law. Theidea
contained in draft article 48, paragraph 3, that
countermeasures should be suspended when the dispute
settlement procedure was being implemented was worth
retaining. Referring to the suggestion in paragraph 29 of
the Commission’ s report that the link between the taking
of countermeasures and compul sory arbitration should be
avoided, he said that such alink should be maintained if
the draft articles were adopted in the form of a treaty,
although it should also be stipulated that the two parties
to the dispute could, if they so wished, resort to the
procedure for the peaceful settlement of disputes.

11. Concerning draft article 51 to 53, he said that the
concept of international crimeswasnot without meritfrom
the standpoint of the progressive development of law;
however, in view of itsexperimental character, it was not
very useful in the draft articles that the Commission was
preparing to adopt in final form. The Commission could
return to the question if it was the subject of asignificant
international practice that specified its outlines and
consequences. As for the potential consequences of such
crimes, theobligationunder draft article53 (a) and (b) not
to recognize as lawful the situation created by the crime
and not to render aid or assistance to the State which had



A/C.6/54/SR.27

committed the act could prove useful when examining the
consequences of violation of erga omnes obligations, in
which caseit merited morethorough consideration. Lastly,
theideaof consideringtheplurality of Statesinthecontext
of the draft articleswas an interesting one, asit raised an
extremely important point which thedraft articleshad not
touched upon.

12. Concluding his views on the topic of State
responsibility, he said that the rule concerning the
exhaustion of local remedies was linked to the primary
rulesconcerningtheguaranteesof aregular procedureand
theexistence of suchremedies. Thenatureof that rulewas
therefore dependent on the nature of the primary
obligations in each case. With a view to avoiding any
possible confusion, reference to denial of justice could be
made. In any event, that rule applied only to diplomatic
protection, for which reason he favoured the second
formulation proposed in paragraph 240 of the
Commission’ sreport. Inaddition, hewasconcernedtonote
that the Commission, which was a body composed of
experts acting in their personal capacity, should be
examining a question that fell within the competence of
States, namely, that of humanitarian intervention. In his
view, such intervention should be considered only by the
political forums of the United Nations. Moreover, it was
not a question that formed part of the topic of State
responsibility. Although humanitarian intervention was
based on a Security Council decision, no State
responsibility wasinvolved, sincedecisionsof the Security
Council outweighed any other primary rule. Otherwise,
that responsibility would continue to exist owing to the
prohibition of the use of force, which had the nature of jus
cogens. Draft article 33, paragraph 2 (a), should therefore
be retained.

13. Mr. Gonzalez (Venezuela) said that the draft
guidelines on reservations should develop the Vienna
regimeand ultimately culminatein the adoption of adraft
convention following completion of the Guideto Practice
inwhichthey wereto beincluded, thuscontributing tothe
codification and progressive development of that area of
international law. Theproposed definitionsof reservations
and of interpretative declarations contained in draft
guidelines 1.1 and 1.2 were wholly satisfactory. In
connection with draft guideline 1.5.1 on reservations to
bilateral treaties, he shared the view of those delegations
that believedthat suchreservationswereunauthorized and
implied renegotiation of the treaty. He supported draft
guideline 1.4, which provided that unilateral statements
other thanreservationsandinterpretativedecl arationswere
outside the scope of the Guide to Practice. In his view,

declarations aimed at the assumption of unilateral
commitments beyond those imposed by the treaty formed
part of the Commission’swork on unilateral acts.

14. Turning to theissue of unilateral acts of States, he
said that the second report of the Special Rapporteur
contained very significant elements. Those elements,
however, depended onthedefinitionattributedtosuchacts,
which should be elaborated on the basis of the views of
Governments and the practice of States. On that score, he
noted that the Commission, on therecommendation of the
Working Group, had adopted a provisional text on which
Governmentshad beenrequestedto expresstheir opinions.
The provisional text should becompleted andfinalizedin
2000, taking into account the reports of the Special
Rapporteur, theconclusionsof theWorking Group and the
comments of Governments, as it concerned an important
aspect of international law that should be regulated in
practice. Furthermore, he believed that the Vienna
Convention should serve asthe reference for work on the
topic, which did not mean to say, however, that its
provisionsshould beappliedmutatis mutandisto unilateral
acts or that the latter should be likened to conventional
acts, from which they differed in several respects.

15. Withregard to the interpretation of unilateral acts,
he said that the Special Rapporteur and the Commission
should al sotakeinto consideration characteristicsinherent
in actswhose el aboration and intention differed from that
of conventional acts, which depended on agreement and
not on a State’ s expression of its willingness to produce
legal effects. Moreover, the modification, suspension or
revocation of unilateral actsmust not depend solely onthe
will of the author State. The granting of consent by the
addressee State was considered indispensable. It was
important to distinguish between the unilateralism that
characterizedtheelaboration of theact anditslegal effects,
which could giverightsto Statesthat had not participated
in its elaboration. Once the unilateral act was elaborated
and the State had expressed itswillingnessto engagein a
relationship with another State, the relationship created
was not unilateral. Indeed, unilateral acts were closely
linkedwith other topi csthat the Commissionwascurrently
considering, such as reservations, which were unilateral
declarations which could be considered (following the
Commission’s example) to arise out of conventional law
or, as his delegation believed, to arise out of the law
governingunilateral actsor that pertainingtointernational
liability.

16. Mr.Winkler (Austria), referringtochapter 1V of the
Commission’s report, said that his delegation had noted
with satisfaction the final text of the draft articles on the



A/C.6/54/SR.27

nationality of natural personsinrelation tothesuccession
of Statesadopted on second reading. That draft wasonthe
whole satisfactory and should be adopted in the form of a
declaration, as the Commission had proposed. His
delegation agreed with the Commission, and with alarge
number of del egationsthat had previously spoken, that the
work on that topic should be considered finished. Even
though some delegations were not entirely satisfied, the
result of those efforts helped to clarify certain basic
principles and rules which provided greater security to
States and personsin the matter of nationality inrelation
tothesuccession of States, withinthecontext of respect for
humanitarian principles.

17. With regard to reservations to treaties, most of the
concernsthat hisdelegation had raised in 1998 remained
valid; such as that some provisions contained overly
detailed definitions and that others were perhaps
redundant. That was true, for example, of the slightly
modified text of former guideline 1.1.5, renumbered as
1.4.1: thefact that a State or aninternational organization
expressed its willingness to increase its conventional
obligations did not of course modify the legal effects of
obligations arising out of that treaty. Thus, by definition,
aunilateral declaration did not constitute areservation to
atreaty. It was not apparent what that provision added to
the Guideto Practice.

18. Turning to chapter VIII, on the unilateral acts of
States, he said that work was at an early stage. At the
current preliminary stage, his delegation did not see in
what direction the Commission intended to take it, and
hopedthat amoredetail ed report would besubmittedtothe
Assembly onthetopicthefollowingyear. Inparticular, his
delegation was not convinced that the approach chosen,
which consisted in taking the Vienna Convention on the
Law of Treatiesasapoint of reference, wasthecorrect one.
In that regard, it had noted with great interest the
statement by the representative of France, and entirely
supported hisremarks concerning articles 1 to 3. Thefact
that the intention of the State when making a unilateral
declaration was not taken into account was a problem in
the text under consideration.

19. Turning to the report of the Working Group on the
jurisdictional immunitiesof Statesandtheir properties, his
delegationwaspleased that consideration of that topic had
been resumed, and appreciated the Commission’ sworkin
1999. The merit of such an exercisewas mainly to ensure
that the prevailing restrictive view on the matter of the
immunity of States was accepted more uniformly by the
greatest possible number of States, and to help national
courts to take decisions along those lines.

20. Withregardtothetopicslistedinthe Commission’s
long-term programme of work, his delegation noted that
they covered awide spectrum. It was striking to observe
how international law had diversified, and how thevarious
fields of law once considered external had gradually
acquired an internal dimension. Various fields had been
legalized andinstitutionalized, and had their ownrulesand
regimes. That internationalist trend should be welcomed
inevery respect. Atthesametime, thesubstantial increase
in the number of legal fields and regimes had resulted in
afragmentation of international law. That needed not be
seen asadanger to auniform concept of international law.
Fragmentation was not aconcept; it was simply afact that
arose from the multitude and variety of international
relations, but that might lead to conflicts between varying
norms and regimes, thus undermining the authority of
international law. A solution to that problem was not easy
to suggest. What could be done was to take existing law
into careful considerationwhenelaborating new normsand
establishing new regimes, with aview to avoiding future
conflicts. Inhisdelegation’ sview, the Commissionshould
be asked to give some thought to that issue, which was of
crucial importancefor thefutureof international lawinthe
next millennium.

21. Thetopicsthat the Commission proposedto consider
in future usefully reflected the problems that called for
more comprehensive discussion, and if possible,
codification. Without denying the importance of other
topics mentioned, his delegation attached particular
importance to the question of the responsibility of
international organizationsand the effect of international
conflictsontreaties, twogrowing problemsininternational
relations.

22. Another field of international law that merited the
Commission’ sattention wasinternational environmental
law. Admittedly, the Commission was already discussing
someaspectsof that matter under thetopic of international
liability, and had presented the first draft articles on
prevention to the General Assembly the previousyear. As
necessary and useful asthat might be, other aspects of the
topicwerejust asimportant and should betakenup assoon
aspossible. With regard to environmental law in general,
an overall draft covering all of its aspects was unfeasible
for practical and doctrinal reasons. The environment was
addressed by anumber of legal regulations from the most
varied fields of international law, including treaty law.
International environmental law must not be separated
from the general structure of international law; on the
contrary, thetwo must bereconciledwithout relinquishing
theparticularitiesof theformer. It wasconceivablethat the



A/C.6/54/SR.27

Commission, taking into account the general structure of
international law, might concentrate its efforts on
particular issues of environmental law, such as the
precautionary principle or the “polluter pays” principle.

23. Mr. Gomaa (Egypt) said, first, that among the
Commission’s working methods, the identification and
selection of topicswas animportant matter. The planning
group of the enlarged bureau should concentrate on
guestionswhichwereat theheart of international relations
and were of importance to the whole of the international
community asreflectedinthesummarizedcriterialaid out
in paragraph 553 of the Commission’s previous report
(A/53/10). In his delegation’s view, topics to be selected
should be sufficiently advanced from the standpoint of
State practice. It seemed, however, that that criterion had
not been fully observed when selecting certain topics
currently under consideration by the Commission. In
addition, hisdel egation shared theview that split sessions
wouldallow forinter-sessional deliberationsandreflection,
and should improve participation in the Commission’s
meetings. It also noted with appreciation that some
progress had been made in putting the publication of the
Yearbook of the International Law Commission back on
schedule.

24. Turningtothe matter of reservationsto treaties, his
delegation believed that the regime established under the
Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties should be
preserved, sinceit continued to reflect the state of the art.
It had been adopted after extensive discussions in the
General Assembly, following its consideration by the
International Court of Justice, the Commissionitself, and
three successive conferences on treaty law. The Special
Rapporteur had therefore rightly taken the definition of
reservations set forth in the Vienna Conventions of 1969,
1978 and 1986 as a starting point. The Commission had
also rightly decided that the provisions of those three
Conventions with respect to reservations should not be
altered.

25. Onreservationsto treaties, he said that any regime
should respect the differing characteristics of the various
elements making up the international community. Hard
and fast rules did not serve the purpose of creating a
universal regimefor reservations. If it ended up excluding
theparticipation of somecountriesfromaparticul ar treaty
arrangement, thevery concept of universality —whichthe
practiceof reservationsai med to uphold — would coll apse.
In 1962 the Commission had been in favour of aflexible
systemthat woul d mai ntai nthebal ance betweenthewidest
possible participation and the preservation of theintegrity
of the treaty, as designed by the International Court of

Justiceinits Advisory Opinion of 1951, Reservations to
the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the
Crime of Genocide. That regimehad been carried into the
1969 Vienna Convention and later into the other two
Vienna Conventions. There was no reason why the same
approach should not be maintained.

26. Thelaw of treaties, particularly the Viennaregime,
did not draw adistinction between human rights treaties
and other multilateral treaties. Furthermore, therewasno
reasonto seek to establishadistinct regimeonreservations
for one area of codification, namely human rights, while
all other areasremained subject to general rules. Thefact
that human rights constituted a self-contained regime
should not be used as a pretext for creating a special
reservations regime. Self-contained regimes more or less
avoided the application of the general legal consequences
of wrongful acts, but the secondary rules dealing with,
among others, the introduction, modification and
termination of legal rules themselves applied to such
regimes as to others. The Commission might not be the
most appropriate forum to discussthe disquieting attitude
of human rights monitoring bodies, which claimed to be
competent to assess the compatibility of reservations and
to decide on their effect and scope, and thus their
admissibility. Hewas, however, justified in addressing the
i ssue because such claimswere among those being | ooked
at by the Commission in deciding whether there existed a
distinct regime of reservations to human rights treaties.
While attaching importance to the work of those
monitoring bodies, hisdel egation believedthat they should
remain within their prerogatives and that, when their
mandates contained no provision to that effect, the
admissibility of reservations lay absolutely outside their
competence. In fact, only the courts were competent to
determinethe admissibility and effect of reservations. For
that reason his delegation believed that the comments
received by the Commission from such bodies did not
accurately reflect the legal regime of reservations to
treaties.

27. Connected with the principle of universality in
general multilateral treaties, particularly normative ones,
was the question of interpretative declarations. Such
declarations were often the only way for Statesto accede
to ageneral multilateral instrument, by explaining their
position on and interpretation of certain of itsprovisions.
He therefore hoped that the Special Rapporteur would
consider interpretative declarations in the light of the
specificitiesof different cultureswhichinfluencedthelegal
regimes of nations.



A/C.6/54/SR.27

28. With regard to State responsibility, he agreed with
the Special Rapporteur that obligationserga omnes needed
further elaboration. In the same vein, it should also be
pointed out that jus cogens, themost important innovation
of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties,
continued to raise questions and did not seem to be
universally interpreted and appliedinthesameway. Asfor
the relationship between the draft articles on State
responsibility and other rulesof international law, thedraft
should continue to respect lex specialis. He saw no merit
in the distinction between “criminal” and “delictual”
responsibility if it did not reflect the procedural or
consequential impact of such a distinction in terms of a
differentiated action to be taken against the wrongdoer
State in either case. Indeed, the distinction between
“primary” and “secondary” rules was imperfect and
sometimes difficult to draw. His delegation therefore
commended the Special Rapporteur on his caution in not
strayingtoofarinthefieldof “ primary” obligationsfor the
purposes of State responsibility.

29. Withregard to the question of how to reconcile the
different partsof thedraft relating to the breach by a State
of itsobligationswhen no breach wasintended, the Special

Rapporteur wasright to seek asolution in the “ structure”

of the draft, creating a physical link between the parts on
breach and those on “ preclusion of wrongfulness’. While
it might not be practicableor desirableto draw up detailed
provisions on countermeasures, the relationship between
countermeasures and the resort to third-party dispute
settlement was intricate.

30. Withregardtothequestionraised by theCommission
astowhether adistinction should bedrawn between States
specifically injured by aninternationally wrongful act and
other States having alegal interest in the performance of
therelevant obligations, it hadtobeclear that an“injured”
Statewasonetowhichaninternational obligationwasdue.
An excellent account of that was to be found in the 1949
Advisory Opinion of the International Court of Justiceon
the Reparation for injuries suffered in the service of the
United Nations, as well as in the work of the former
Special Rapporteur, Mr. Riphagen, reflected in Part Two
of thedraft articles. It waslegally sound to concludethat,
although all other States might be affected by the breach
because of a legal interest in the performance of the
obligation, they were not necessarily “injured” and could
not be assumed to be so. On another i ssue addressed by the
Commission, namely, the breach of an international
obligation by aplurality of States, hisdelegation believed
that the Commission’ swork would be undoneif theissue
was not covered by the draft.

31. With regard to the relationship of the draft to the
1969 and 1986 ViennaConventionsontheL aw of Treaties,
inview of the blanket proviso of article 73 and, of course,
theregime set up under article 60 of the two Conventions,
itwasimportant torespect theparallelism betweenthetwo
major branches of international law, namely, the law of
treaties and the law of international responsibility. It was
true that the relationship between them was particularly
close in the work of the Commission; nevertheless, the
draft should not blur the distinction between them with
respect to the breach of contractual obligations. At the
same time, there should be constant cross-references
emphasizing the complementarity of the Convention and
the draft articles.

32. Astothe provisions on necessity as a circumstance
precluding wrongfulness, his delegation agreed with the
Commission that the issue of humanitarian intervention
involving the use of force was extremely controversial.
Such intervention violated the most salient peremptory
norm, namely, the non-use of force in international
relations.

33. With regard to international liability for injurious
consequences arising out of acts not prohibited by
international law, the Commissionhad moved surprisingly
fast on the adoption on first reading of 17 draft articles,
together with their commentaries. In 1999, however, the
Commission had had to decide whether it should proceed
with its consideration of the topic, suspend work until it
finalized the second reading of the draft articles on the
regime of prevention or terminate its work on the topic
altogether. Hisdel egation believed the second optionto be
morerealistic and commended the Commission on having
adopted it.

34. Onasubstantive note, the obligationsin the area of
the* prevention of transboundary damage from hazardous
activities” wereunclear asfar as* damage” wasconcerned.
It would not be practicableto attempt to solve theissue of
the “duty of prevention” by making it hostage to the
theoretical considerations of “obligations of conduct”,
which was the obligation of due diligence. There needed
to beamore solid and objectivelegal basisfor measuring
compliance and identifying the degree of violation. The
dispute mechanism under discussion might, in fact,
compensatefor any shortcomingsof thecurrentregime.In
that respect, the mechanism should not stop at direct
contact between the parties concerned. It wastruethat the
issues involved were more amenable to consultation and
negotiation, but if the latter did not yield solutions, the
mechanism should extend to all other means of dispute
settlement, in line with Article 33 of the Charter of the



A/C.6/54/SR.27

United Nations. Damage was damage, whether it had
arisenfromlegal orillegal acts. It should not be forgotten
that thewhol efield of prevention of transboundary damage
from hazardous activities was a new one and raised
technical andlegal issues. Therelevant normsvariedfrom
one Statetoanother accordingtothelevel of technol ogical
and economic development. Accordingly, theissueshould
betreated withthegreatest careand theadjournment of the
Commission’ swork wouldprovidean opportunity toreflect
onthemany questionsraised both withinthe Commission
itself and by Governments.

35. Lastly, with regard to jurisdictional immunities of
States and their property, his delegation noted with
satisfaction the progress made. The five issues that the
Commission had reviewed allowed the topic to be
examined from anew angle at atimewhen it seemed that
adeadlock had been reached. The Commission had made
useful suggestionsanditsanalysisof international practice
would be useful for the work of the working group of the
Sixth Committee that was scheduled to meet for the first
time the following week. Egypt looked forward to Taking
an active part in the meetings.

36. Mr.Rogachev (Russian Federation) emphasi zed that
the topic of unilateral acts of States was one of the most
complex in both the doctrine and practice of international
law, not only because of the extraordinary variety of such
acts, but also because they were omnipresent in
international relations since they were the most direct
meansthat Stateshad of expressingtheir will. Therelevant
work of the Special Rapporteur would provideanexcellent
basis on which to continue examining the topic.

37. Onthesubstantiveissue,itwascertainthat, asinthe
case of treaties, unilateral actsof subjectsof international
law could create legal norms; that was confirmed by both
State practiceand international precedents. Neverthel ess,
asthe Commission hadindicated, considerabl euncertainty
reigned as to the legal regime on such acts and was a
potential source of conflicts.

38. The Russian Federation agreed with the general
approach adopted by the Commission, which consisted in
limiting its discussionsto certain categories of unilateral
acts and excluding, for example, acts relating to the
interpretation and application of treaties, acts performed
in the exercise of jurisdiction according to international
law, actsengaging theinternational responsibility of their
author andthosethat wereessentially internal withregard
to their nature and effects. Moreover, in view of the
characteristics of international organizations, it was

preferable to exclude their unilateral acts from the
discussions, for the time being.

39. Furthermore, theRussian Federationwasnot entirely
convinced that estoppel should beexcluded fromthestudy
of the unilateral acts of States. Indeed, estoppel usually
resulted from aunilateral act, the State performing theact
losing, because of estoppel, the right to use a certain fact
or situation asabasisfor asserting itsrights. The Russian
Federation believed that estoppel was not merely a
procedural instrument, but related directly to the topic
under discussion.

40. Inprinciple,theRussian Federationwasnot opposed
to excluding discussion of acts that had no legal effect at
theinternational level, but it believed that flexibility and
prudenceshould beshowninthat regard. It wasnot always
possibletoestablish aprecise, reasoned distinction between
“political” acts and “legal” acts. Indeed, numerous
unilateral acts, whatever their content, could beclassified
as“political”, while certain unilateral acts not originally
intended to have legal effects at the international level
could have such effects. His delegation agreed with the
Special Rapporteur that the Commission should study
unilateral actsthat wereformal legal acts; in other words,
it should study not the content of the norms to which the
acts gave rise, but the process that created those norms.
However, the content of the acts and the circumstancesin
which they were carried out could not be totally ignored.

41. For procedural reasons, his delegation could not
accept the Special Rapporteur’ sproposal tolimitthescope
of discussion to autonomous unilateral acts that created
legal effects. In effect, theautonomy of unilateral actswas
totally conditional since the legal obligation that they
created arosenot fromtheunilateral expression of thewill
of the State that issued them, but rather from the
compatibility between that will and the interests of other
States. It wasunimaginablethat aunilateral act would have
legal effectsintherel ationsbetweenitsauthor and another
subject of international law if the latter had raised
objections. Furthermore, a State that made a unilateral
declaration took into consideration the reactions of those
to whom it was addressed.

42. Inthatregard, hisdelegationagreedthat discussions
should primarily focusonunilateral declarations, although
it should be understood that all formsof expression of will

should be considered, including silence.

43. Lastly, withregardtotheformthat theresultsof the
Commission’ s work on the topic of the unilateral acts of
Statesshouldtake, hisdelegation agreedthat draft articles
should be prepared, accompanied by commentaries.



A/C.6/54/SR.27

44. Mr.SunGuoshun (China), referringto chapter VIlI1
of theCommission’ sreport, emphasi zed theneedto codify
the laws on unilateral acts of States and promote their
progressivedevel opment. Sinceunil ateral actswerepresent
in numerous areas and could have different legal effects,
it was extremely difficult to establish precise rules and
regimes that did not constitute a source of dispute at the
international level.

45. There were those who held that unilateral acts
included not only legal acts but also political acts, while
othersbelieved that only theformer should be considered.
Thedistinction between thetwo categories of actswasnot
always easy to establish. At times, an act could be both
political andlegal, asinthecaseof unilateral declarations
offering certain kinds of security guarantees by nuclear-
weapon States without consultation with non-nuclear-
weapon States.

46. TheWorking Group established by the Commission
at its fifty-first session had defined the unilateral acts of
States as acts carried out with the intention of producing
legal effects on the international plane, not only with the
intention of acquiring international legal obligations.
Despiteencouraging progress, problemsstill existed. First,
there was a gap between intention and result; in other
words, actsperformed withtheintention of producinglegal
effects did not necessarily achieve the intended results.
Second, acts that did not intend to produce legal effects
sometimes produced them. Lastly, it was difficult to
ascertainif theintention of theauthor Statewasto produce
legal effects. Therefore, China suggested that the word
“intention” should be explained in the commentary.
Furthermore, it did not understand why the term
“autonomous” had been deleted from the definition, and
proposed that it should be retained.

47. Itwasimpossibleto codify all unilateral actswithin
a single legal regime, because of their great diversity.
Chinatherefore believed that a prudent approach should
be taken, excluding unilateral acts of States that were
related to treaty law, acts that were already regulated by
international legal norms, and those that did not produce
international legal effects, but without merely restricting
the topic to unilateral statements.

48. Some unilateral acts of States aimed to establish
obligations for the author, othersto establish rights, and
still others to establish both obligations and rights; that
guestion merited serious study. On the one hand,
regulations regarding unilateral acts of States were not
subject to the rule pacta sunt servanda as treaty law. On
theother hand, unilateral actsof Statesdidindeed produce

some legal consequences in international relations, and
different unilateral acts might produce different
consequences. The legal effects of some unilateral acts
might be based on the necessity to honour acommitment,
or the principle of good faith, whereas unilateral acts
aimed at establishingrightsfor theauthor Statemight have
another basis.

49. Since many aspects of that topic were related, in
various degrees, to treaty law, relevant articles of the
Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties could be used
for reference when provisions were being formulated.
Regarding the addressee of aunilateral act, hisdelegation
shared the view of the Working Group that it could be a
State or a governmental organization. Some procedural
provisions such as those concerning the interpretation,
correction, suspension and termination of aunilateral act
could alsodraw fromtherelevant provisionsof theVienna
Convention on the Law of Treaties.

50. Mr. Ouraga-Obou (Coéte d'lvoire), referring to
chapter V1 of the Commission’s report, “Reservations to
treaties”, noted that the sole aim of his statement was to
refer to thedefinition of “interpretative declaration”. The
work of the Special Rapporteur showed that in the final
analysis there was no single or unequivocal concept of
interpretative declaration. As defined in the context of
multilateral treaties, it was not properly speaking alegal
act, which was not the case in the context of bilateral
treaties, whereit would not be deprived of all legal effect.
Clearly, those two distinct legal regimes were in fact the
result of the difference in nature, not in degree, between
those two categories of interpretative declarations, a
differencewhich should beclarified. It would beuseful,in
the interests of clarity, to find a more complete and less
ambiguous definition, which would be more satisfactory.
Without contradicting the proposed draft articles, his
delegation hoped that the Commissionwould agreetorefer
inthedefinitionof “interpretativedeclaration” tothelegal
nature of the act subject to interpretation — better a
multilateral or abilateral treaty — and the extent towhich
it might produce legal effects, so that there would be no
ambiguity.

51. Mr. Uykur (Turkey) noted, on the subject of
unilateral acts of States, that even if the Vienna
ConventiononthelL aw of Treatiesprovided anappropriate
framework for thework of the Commi ssion, oneshould not
lose sight of the differences between treaty acts and
unilateral acts when formulating the governing rules for
them. In that respect, States acting unilaterally were not
entitled to erode, to their own advantage, a particular



A/C.6/54/SR.27

balance which had been established by the relevant treaty
provisions constituted with the consent of its parties.

52. On the question of the capacity to take on
international commitmentson behalf of the Stateby means
of aunilateral act, headsof State, headsof Government and
foreign ministers were widely regarded as having that
capacity. However, a restrictive approach should be
followed with regard to other State officials who had the
said capacity. Inthat connection, it wasinterestingto take
into account the decision of the International Court of
Justice in the Gulf of Maine case, where the Court had
considered that the letter of an official of the Bureau of
Land Management was not an official declaration of the
Stateconcerned. It wasal so necessary tomakeadistinction
between legal acts and declarations of a political nature,
and theintention of creating legal effects seemed to be an
appropriate criterion there.

53. Similarly, the different types of unilateral acts such
as protest, promise, waiver, recognition or notification
should be dealt with taking into account their differing
aspects. That approach could provide a reliable basis,
particularly with regard to revocation. His delegation
welcomed the questionnaire circulated to Governmentsto
seek information on their views and practices, asit would
enable the Commission to depict the general tendencies
and practice of each Statein that field.

54. On the topic of reservations to treaties, and the
guestion of their admissibility, it was a questionable
understanding that a State putting forward a reservation
which the other States parties to the treaty found
inadmissible should be deemed a party to the treaty, the
reservation notwithstanding. That approach not only
disregarded the consent expressed by the Statein question
on becoming a party to the treaty, but would also have
negative implications for the basis of treaty law.

55. With regard to guideline 1.4.5, “Statements
concerning modalitiesof implementation of atreaty at the
internal level”, the phrase “without purporting as such to
affect its rights and obligations towards the other
contracting parties” wasusedinplaceof thewordinginthe
previous version “but which does not affect itsrights and
obligations towards the other contracting parties’. His
delegation had some concerns about the possible
implicationsof thenew formulationfor therightsof States
other than the author of the statement. Indeed, the rights
of third States should not be negatively affected by a
statement of that kind. In particular, the words “ as such”
could lead to disputes on the nature of a particular
statement, in caseswherethestatement waslikely to affect

10

the rights and obligations of third States. His delegation
thought that the new phrase included in that guideline
should be studied further.

56. In conclusion, his delegation noted that it would
submit to the Commission in writing the views of Turkey
oninternational liability forinjuriousconsequencesarising
out of actsnot prohibited by international law, and on State
responsibility. Neverthel ess, hisdelegationwishedtoplace
onrecorditsobjectiontooneissuereferredtoinparagraph
109 (c) of the second report of the Special Rapporteur on
Stateresponsibility (A/CN.4/498). Utmost care should be
taken in order to avoid misleading qualifications when
individual cases were being tackled.

The meeting rose at 5.20 p.m.



